

#### Area Planning Committee (South and West)

DateThursday 20 October 2016Time2.00 pmVenueCouncil Chamber, Council Offices, Spennymoor

#### Business

#### Part A

#### Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

- 1. Apologies for Absence
- 2. Substitute Members
- 3. Declarations of Interest (if any)
- 4. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the discussion of exempt information.

#### Part B

## Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

5. Revocation, Modification and Discontinuance Orders, Mill House Farm, Windmill (Pages 1 - 4)

#### Part A

#### Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

- 6. Revocation, Modification and Discontinuance Orders, Mill House Farm, Windmill (Pages 5 34)
- 7. Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 September 2016 (Pages 35 44)

- 8. Applications to be determined
  - a) <u>DM/16/01325/VOC Site Of Former School, 28 Front Street,</u> <u>Staindrop, DL2 3NH</u> (Pages 45 - 56)

Variation of condition 2 of application DM/15/00292/FPA to amend the design of scheme (Retrospective)

9. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

#### **Colette Longbottom**

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall Durham 12 October 2016

#### To: The Members of the Area Planning Committee (South and West)

Councillor H Nicholson (Chairman) Councillor M Dixon (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors B Armstrong, D Bell, D Boyes, J Clare, K Davidson, E Huntington, C Kay, S Morrison, A Patterson, G Richardson, L Taylor, C Wilson and S Zair **Document is Restricted** 

This page is intentionally left blank

Paragraphs

# AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE (SOUTH AND WEST)



20 OCTOBER 2016

### REVOCATION, MODIFICATION AND DISCONTINUANCE ORDERS MILL HOUSE FARM, WINDMILL

Electoral Division: Ever

Evenwood

Case Officer:

Stephen Reed, Planning Development Manager 03000 263870, <u>stephen.reed@durham.gov.uk</u>

#### Contents

4 0
1 – 8
9 – 10
11 – 12
13 – 19
20 – 30
31 – 50
51 – 60
61 – 63
64 – 68
69 – 83
84 – 109
110 – 111
112
113 – 133
134
135 – 138
139

#### 1. Purpose of the Report

1 This report concerns very rarely-used powers that are available to local planning authorities to revoke or modify planning permissions, or to require the discontinuance of or restrictions on land uses or the removal of buildings. The powers are analogous to taking enforcement action, although with two significant differences in this case. The first is that the uses or buildings on the land under consideration are not unauthorised, but benefit from planning permissions. The second is that compensation is payable on the use of powers to deprive landowners of rights previously granted.

- 2 The purpose of this report is for Members of the Committee to state their opinion to the Head of Planning and Assets about whether, and if so how, the Council should utilise those powers, under sections 97 and 102 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, to make orders requiring the revocation or modification of planning permissions, and/or to require the discontinuance of uses of land or the alteration or demolition of buildings at Mill House Farm, Windmill.
- 3 Section 97 of the 1990 Act provides that the local planning authority may, if it considers it expedient having regard to the development plan and to other material considerations, make an order revoking or modifying any permission to develop land that has been granted on an application made under Part III of the 1990 Act. The power may only be exercised before any building operations have been completed (or before any change of use has taken place), and will not affect any operations that have already taken place.
- 4 Where an order is opposed, it shall not take effect unless it is confirmed by the Secretary of State.
- 5 Section 102 of the 1990 Act provides that the local planning authority may, if it considers it expedient in the interests of the proper planning of its area (including the interests of amenity) having regard to the development plan and to any other material considerations, make orders to:
  - (i) Require the discontinuance of any land use, or to impose conditions on the continuance of a use of land; or
  - (ii) Require steps to be taken to alter or remove buildings or works.
- 6 An order under section 102 may also grant planning permission for any development of the land to which the order relates.
- 7 Any order under section 102 requires the confirmation by the Secretary of State.
- 8 In either case there is a requirement to pay compensation to the landowner or the holders of other land interests affected by the decision. The anticipated costs to the public purse involved in the various options, which are a material consideration in the decision, are set out in the accompanying exempt report.

#### 2. Decision-making

9 The committee's role is an unusual one, in that Members are not being asked to take a decision but instead to state their opinion for consideration by the Head of Planning & Assets. The Head of Planning & Assets has the constitutional authority to make these decisions. The power to make discontinuance orders is a delegated function of the Planning Committee; whereas the power to make revocation and modification orders lies in full Council. Although the costs to the Council of making any orders are a material consideration, it is important to recognise that these are Council (and not Executive) functions. The overriding question is whether it is expedient to make any orders in the interests of good planning. 10 It is considered that for the Head of Planning & Assets to receive the views of Members, after engaging in a consultation exercise and after giving the opportunity for public speaking at committee, will aid decision-making in this instance. Ultimately the decision will be taken by the Head of Planning & Assets after giving due consideration to the views of the Committee as well as those making representations.

#### 3. The existing permissions and their conditions

11 Permissions have been granted for three barns on agricultural land at Mill House Farm in Windmill. The operating provisions of these permissions are summarised below:

#### Barn 1: 6/2005/0524/DM

Permission was granted for the erection of a general purpose agricultural building measuring 243 square metres in floor area.

Conditions were imposed to require landscaping to the western boundary of the site, maintenance of the existing boundary hedgerow, and to restrict the use of the barn to agricultural purposes.

#### Barn 2: 6/2008/0197/DM (an amendment to permission 6/2007/0566/DM)

Retrospective permission was given for a general purpose livestock building measuring 243 square metres in floor area (251 with a link structure since erected under permitted development rights).

Conditions were imposed to require a scheme for foul and surface water disposal to be agreed, and for animal waste to be disposed of in accordance with recognised good agricultural practice.

#### Barn 3: 6/2008/0256/DM

Permission was granted for the erection of a general purpose livestock building measuring 449 square metres in floor area.

Conditions were imposed to require compliance with the application plans; a restriction on external illumination; a restriction to use for the overwintering of cattle only; a requirement to improve the site access; a restriction on vegetation clearance; and a requirement for the subsequent approval and implementation of a waste management plan.

The waste management plan has subsequently been approved on appeal, although does not yet apply to the site because this barn has not yet been built. It requires:

- (i) Manure to be spread in accordance with good agricultural practice;
- (ii) Not allowing contaminated water to enter watercourses.

In order to manage complaints, it also requires:

- Appropriate storage of manure and soiled bedding in specified locations.
- Storage of manure for no more than 12 months.
- Manure spreading operations to be carried out on specified land.
- Carry out farming activities in accordance with Protecting our Water, Soil and Air: A Code of Good Agricultural Practice for farmers, growers and land managers (Defra, 2009). The guidance advises the following in relation to spreading operations:

"Use a weather forecast to help choose suitable conditions for spreading. The best conditions are where air mixes to a great height above the ground, which are typically sunny, windy days, followed by cloudy, windy nights. These conditions cause odours to be diluted quickly. Check wind direction in relation to nearby housing before spreading."

It also requires steps to establish a working relationship between neighbours:

- Maintain good relationship with neighbouring residents.
- Avoid spreading at weekends, bank holidays, or in the evening.
- Provide information about manure spreading operations when required.
- Adhere to management plan.

It also requires a monitoring protocol, the restriction of high intensity events such as clearing manure, removing soiled bedding and manure spreading operations, and the management plan to be reviewed and adjusted as needed on an annual basis.

12 The current position is that Barns 1 & 2 have been erected and put to use. Works to implement the permission for Barn 3 have been commenced (meaning that it is presently open to the landowner to complete the permission) but has not been built out beyond the initial preparatory works.

#### 4. Background to the current decisions

- 13 The Council has been recommended to make decisions on revocation, modification and discontinuance by the Local Government Ombudsman ("the LGO") who issued a report in 2012 finding that the three planning permissions for barns on agricultural land at Mill House Farm were granted as the result of maladministration. Residents had complained of serious impacts on their residential amenity resulting from the use of the barns.
- 14 Those findings of maladministration lay partly in the Council's (and our predecessor Council's) failure properly to grapple with the potential impacts

on residential amenity which could result from the use of the barns for housing livestock, or to impose adequate planning conditions to control those impacts.

- 15 The LGO's findings of maladministration were also based on the unauthorised decisions by officers to grant permission for the first two barns under delegated authority. This was because the LGO was presented with letters purportedly written to the Council by the Parish Council, objecting to the developments. The LGO found that Council officers had removed these letters from the planning files. If the Council had received these letters then they would have triggered a requirement to refer each of the applications to the Committee for a decision. However, following a police investigation into the provenance of those letters, it has transpired that the Council never did receive them and so they never were removed from the planning files because they were forged by one of the complainants, who has since been convicted on two counts of using a false instrument with intent to deceive.
- 16 The LGO has recently revisited her report in the light of the conclusion of those criminal proceedings. She no longer considers that the 2 permissions in question were taken without the requisite delegated authority. However she does still consider that the Council failed to properly consider the planning merits of all three proposals, and so maintains her original recommendation that the Council gives consideration to revoking or modifying the permissions or discontinuing the developments.
- 17 The Council has accepted the LGO's recommendation.
- 18 The LGO also recommended that before determining whether to make any Orders, the Council should commission independent reports on the planning impacts of the barns. These are discussed below.
- 19 The relevant law on the Orders that may be made is set out above in paragraphs 1–8. For clarity, the section 97 power of revocation or modification is available only in respect of Barn 3, which has not yet been built. The section 102 power of discontinuance or of requiring the alteration or removal of buildings is available only in respect of Barns 1 and 2. However it is appropriate to consider the two sets of powers together, as the LGO requires the Council to consider the existing and potential amenity impacts of the uses of the site as a whole.

#### 5. Description of the site and surroundings

- 20 Mill House Farm comprises approximately 19½ hectares (48 acres) some of which (approximately 8 ha) is owned and some of which (approximately 11½ ha) is rented.
- 21 The site is situated within the hamlet of Windmill which is in the countryside to the north west of Bishop Auckland. Mill House Farm is situated on the eastern side of the road through Windmill, approximately 400 metres to the north of its junction with the C32 (Nettlebed Lane).
- 22 The main farm complex comprises of 2 cattle barns and an attached storage shed, which are positioned beside the road. The yard surrounding the

buildings is unmade, compacted ground. The farm also uses an open fronted pole barn for storage, approximately 135m to the south, opposite the chapel.

- 23 Vehicular access is taken from the road into the yard to the north of the farm buildings.
- 24 Two static caravans and a linking structure are positioned roughly east of the site entrance. These are required to be removed under an extant enforcement notice.
- 25 There is a low boundary wall between the road through Windmill and the site. There are a number of trees and other vegetation along this wall and in the highway verge.
- 26 The closest houses to the application site are Ivy House and Oak Lodge. These are situated on the western side of the road through Windmill and are to the north-northwest of the barns.
- 27 Ivy House comprises a two storey property positioned gable end on to the road. It has windows at ground and first floor level in its south facing elevation which provide outlook towards the south.
- 28 Oak Lodge is to the west of Ivy Cottage further from the road through Windmill. Oak Lodge also comprises a two storey property with a southerly outlook.
- 29 Other dwellings are also situated in the vicinity of the site. In general they are surrounded by agricultural fields and a scattering of dwellings and other buildings including agricultural buildings.
- 30 A public footpath runs to the south of Ivy House and Oak Lodge and continues across the fields to the north of the site following an existing field boundary.

#### 6. Other relevant history of the site

31 The planning and enforcement history of the site is set out as follows:

#### Planning Applications (9)

• <u>Prior Notification for Siting of 2 Storage Containers For Animal Feed,</u> temporary for one year

Ref. No: DM/14/00624/PNB | Status: Application Approved

• Agricultural workers dwelling and 2 no. temporary static caravans

Ref. No: DM/15/00200/FPA | Status: Application Withdrawn

• <u>Shed to store hay/straw</u>

Ref. No: 6/AF/2008/0013 | Status: Prior Notification Not Required

• Lean to attachment to existing building

Ref. No: 6/AF/2007/0008 | Status: Prior Notification Not Required

 Discharge of condition 7 (waste management) of planning permission 6/2008/0256/DM

Ref. No: 6/2012/0026/CON | Status: Appeal Allowed

<u>Erection of general purpose livestock building</u>

Ref. No: 6/2008/0256/DM | Status: Application Approved

General purpose livestock building (retrospective)

Ref. No: 6/2008/0197/DM | Status: Application Approved

<u>Erection of general purpose agricultural building to house livestock and feed</u>
<u>silo</u>

Ref. No: 6/2007/0566/DM | Status: Application Approved

Erection of general purpose agricultural building

Ref. No: 6/2005/0524/DM | Status: Application Approved

#### Planning Appeals (4)

<u>Appeal against Hedgerow Removal Notice</u>

Ref. No: 15/00042/ENF | Status: Appeal Dismissed

• Agricultural workers dwelling and 2 no. temporary static caravans

Ref. No: 15/00044/NONDET | Status: Appeal Withdrawn

<u>Appeal against Enforcement Notice for Change of use of land for residential</u>
<u>purposes</u>

Ref. No: 16/00008/ENF | Status: Appeal Dismissed

Discharge of condition 7 (waste management) of planning permission 6/2008/0256/DM

Ref. No: 6/APP/2012/0008 | Status: Appeal Allowed

- 32 The current position following enforcement actions on the site is that a hedgerow should be replaced by 23<sup>rd</sup> February 2017 and unauthorised residential caravans on the site must be removed by 8<sup>th</sup> September 2017.
- 33 The site is split into two separate land holdings; as noted above, some of it is owned and some of it is rented. The rented part comprising approximately 11<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> hectares is to the south and is understood to be rented by BJS Farms Limited on an agricultural tenancy. The details of this tenancy (and therefore the security of the arrangements) are not known to the Council. The 'owned' part is to the north and comprises a little over 8 hectares. It is this part upon which the two barns and the third permission are located.

- 34 The land is nominally owned by Brian and Janet Sewell but following bankruptcy proceedings it is understood that the title vests in the Official Receiver and that there is a mortgagee having a secured charge over the property. BJS Farms Limited claims to have a tenancy agreement over this part of the land as well as over the southern part. The position is as yet unclear about whether any such tenancy would take priority over the secured charge – and about whether there would be any compensation entitlement arising in favour of BJS Farms. It is mainly for these reasons that the Council's officers have been unable to make headway in reaching any voluntary agreement about the planning future of the site. (In principle, any revocation, modification or discontinuance – though not any grant of alternative permissions – could be achieved through a section 106 agreement rather than through the making of formal Orders.)
- 35 The site history complained of by local residents to the LGO was summarised by her thus:

In 2006 and 2007 Teesdale District Council officers granted planning permission for agricultural buildings in a small rural hamlet. The officers had no authority to give the permissions and did not impose any conditions to protect the amenity of homes between 60 and 100 metres away. The buildings were used to house up to 120 intensively reared veal calves.

The nearby residents (some only 60 metres away) complained repeatedly to Teesdale District Council's Environmental Health Service about the impact on their lives of the smell from the beasts' excrement and of noise from feed being mixed on the site, from the clanging of metal tethering and from the beasts.

In 2008 Teesdale District Council received a planning application for a third building that would have allowed some 240 cattle to be housed. The Environmental Health Service did not inform the Planning Service of the problems repeatedly reported by residents. One resident began to keep meticulous records of her contacts with the Council's officers.

Teesdale District Council did not decide the planning application before it ceased to exist and its functions were taken over by the new Durham County Council in April 2009.

Supported by their local Councillors, the residents continued to complain to the Environmental Health Service about the impact on them of the use of the existing buildings. They also made representations about how much worse it would be if planning permission were granted for another building. One says 'I've had 6 years of hell....I don't open windows in my home. I keep them shut in useless attempts to drown out site noise and stop the stench....This is worse in summer. I basically have to choose if my lack of sleep will be with windows shut and my bedroom stuffy; or windows open but louder cattle noise and appalling smells.'

36 Local residents have continued to complain about nuisances emanating from the site over the years since the LGO's first report. They have generally communicated via an e.mail address, 'Windmill Residents', which is understood to represent the residents of properties at Ivy House, Oak Lodge, and no.s 4, 5, 6 and 9A Windmill. The complaints can be broadly summarised as raising the following issues:

- Site fires disposing of plastic/toxic material;
- Noise and stench;
- Continuous and unnecessary spreading of animal waste including at weekends;
- Odours from mucking out deep waste;
- Odours from pig excreta;
- Removal of a hedgerow;
- Introduction of residential caravans;
- Burning of waste materials;
- Sour, strong stench from manure resulting in residents being unable to spend time in their gardens or hang out their laundry and an exodus of rats and flies from the site;
- Use of noisy machinery at night;
- Noise from cattle lowing at night.
- 37 Planning Officers have had cause to visit the site on several occasions, as described below.
- 38 At the time of the Ombudsman's report of February 2012, the Council was investigating an allegation of the unauthorised siting of a residential caravan on the land. The case file was opened on 8 August 2011 and closed on 11 April 2012, having found that there was no subsisting breach of planning control. Complaints were received on 18 August 2011 and 26 September 2011. The local MP raised the issue on 10 February 2012. The landowner had provided advanced warning of her intentions to bring a caravan onto the site.
- 39 The issue was investigated by a site visit on 17 August 2011 where the caravan was noted. 'Drive by' monitoring visits took place on 3 occasions in December; 7 occasions in January; 5 occasions in February; and 5 occasions in March. A further visit to the site took place on 25 January when the landowner provided access to view the livestock and to discuss the use of the caravan. The caravan was found not to be in residential use, but to be sited in connection with the agricultural use of the land. Therefore no breach of planning control was occurring.
- 40 Two potential planning breaches were investigated in 2015. The first was of the unauthorised use of the site for residential purposes, facilitated by the installation on the site of 2 caravans. Sewage treatment infrastructure had also been installed. Two complaints were received, in February 2015. Following a number of site visits it appeared to the Council that a breach of control had occurred, and it was determined in October 2015 that it was expedient to issue an enforcement notice requiring the removal of the caravans. This was served on 27 October 2015 and the appeal was dismissed in September 2016.

- 41 A separate complaint was received in April 2015 concerning the allegation of the unauthorised removal of a hedgerow protected by the Hedgerow Regulations. Again this was found to be established and a Hedgerow Replacement Notice was served, and upheld on appeal.
- 42 Finally a complaint was received at the end of February 2016 alleging the unauthorised use of one of the buildings (the pole barn, situated in the southern (rented) part of the site, and not a building with which this report is concerned) for housing livestock, and that hay bales had been used to form pens for ewes and lambing. A site visit took place on 3 March 2016 whereby it was established that there was no breach of planning control. The use of the building does not contravene planning controls, and the formation of pens using hay bales was considered not to amount to development requiring planning permission.
- 43 The enforcement officer's visits to the site were primarily for the purpose of investigating these particular alleged breaches of control. Her opinion of the general environment of the site on all such occasions was that there were no untoward impacts on adjoining residents. She also attended the site in connection with the two recent appeals (concerning the hedgerow and the caravans) on 5 April 2016, 21 July 2016 and 11 August 2016.
- 44 These were all prearranged visits.
- 45 On the first of those visits, it transpired that the appeal site visit had been cancelled by the Planning Inspectorate and so the officer was unable to observe the farm other than to note the mud on the road arising from farm traffic.
- 46 On 21 July 2016, the officer found the farmyard to be quiet. No animals were observed in the buildings although were heard. Farm vehicles and implements were being stored under cover inside the buildings. There was no activity in the yard. A heap of aged manure was visible behind the farm buildings. A mound of manure was in the field immediately to the rear of the caravans on the site. Most of this mound had been spread. Calves were stood or lying on this area. The manure heap did not give off an odour discernible from outside of the site or other than close to the heap. Cows with calves and a bull were grazing in the fields.
- 47 On 11 August 2016 the officer visited together with a planning officer. There were some cows (approximately thirty) visible in the field to the south of the site. Cows and calves were also present in the fields behind the caravans and the site was quiet. There were a few animals within the buildings, along with farm implements and vehicles. There was no obvious change to the manure heap in the field behind the caravans, and the officer did not discern any particular odour from the farm buildings or the manure.
- 48 In 2015 a planning application was made for residential development on the site, and visits have been made in connection with that application. The planning officer visited on 11 February and 9 April. Again, the principal purpose of his visits was to assess the planning application. He did not note any undue environmental impacts of the agricultural operations on the site.

49 Environmental health officers have also visited the vicinity of the site on a number of occasions since the LGO's 2012 report in response to complaints, with no findings of any statutory nuisances, as set out in the table below:

Date	Details	Actions	Outcome
20.3.2012	Odour nuisance	Telephone	Emailed Advice
		response	NFA
17.8.2012	Odour from Mill House	Email sent	NFA
2.4.2013	Water Pollution	Email sent	Referred to Env Agency
9.5.13	Animal Welfare	Site Visit 9.5.13	NFA
20.5.2013	Animal Welfare		
13.6.2013	Animal Welfare	Site Visit 18.6.2013	NFA
25.9.2013	Noise and odour from Pigs	Monitoring sheets sent	NFA
17.7.2014	Burning on site	Programmed monitoring	No Nuisance NFA
		Site Visit 17.7.2014	Case closed
		Site Visit	
		12.12.2014	
		Site Visit 6.1.2015	
		Site Visit 22.1.2015	
		Site Visit 28.1.2015	
		Site Visit 3.2.2015	
		Site Visit 4.2.2015	
30.7.2014	Burning on site	Site Visit 5.2.2015	
28.1.2015	Caravans on site	Referred to	
		Planning	
18.2.2015	Burning on site	Media footage	Letter of advice
		received indicating	sent to Mr & Mrs
		burning on site and	Sewell via their
		dark smoke	Solicitor
13.7.2015	Odour from manure and brewery	Site Visit 22.7.15	No Nuisance NFA
	waste	Site Visit 31.7.15	
		Site Visit 2.8.15	
3.8.2015	Vermin Infestation	Site visit 3.9.2015	Advice given
		to Windmill	
		residents.	
26.5.2016	Odour / Noise / Flies Nuisance	Site Visit 27.5.2016	No Nuisance NFA
26.5.2016	from Manure	Site Visit 10.6.2016	1
27.5.2016		Site Visit 15.6.2016	
30.8.2016		Site Visit	

		12.9.2016	
20.9.2016		Site Visit	
		14.9.2016	
26.9.2016		Site Visit	
		21.9.2016	
26.9.2016	Burning on site		under investigation

50 To summarise, officers have visited the site on several occasions over the past few years. These visits have been in response to complaints about the site as well as in connection with planning applications and appeals. The assessment of the current harm, if any, arising from the activities on the site (relating to the permissions for the barns) is summarised in section 12 of this report.

#### 7. The current business operations on the site

51 The Inspector assessing the waste management plan in 2013 recorded (at paragraph 7 of his decision):

Prior to the instigation of the 'single suckler' system in 2009, different operations involving different cattle numbers had been supported. Information submitted with the original application for the new 'general purpose building' indicated that, by July 2008, there were 100 'bucket fed' calves and 75 cattle over 6 months old on the holding; the new structure was then intended for 40-60 additional animals. Subsequently, a different system operated, the holding accommodating 160 animals brought in at about 6 months for 'fattening' over a 4-5 month period, though no estimate for the potential increase in the size of the herd to be accommodated by the new structure was then given.

52 He went on (at paragraph 15) to say that he:

estimate[d] that the enlarged herd that could be housed with the addition of the new building, amounting (as indicated) to some 100 cows, 50 calves and 1 bull...

(at paragraph 16:)

in May 2012 the herd was stated to consist of 175 cattle with the new building accommodating an increase to 240 animals (60 cows from 6-12 months, 60 beef cattle fattened from 6-14 months and 120 calves up to 6 months).

(at paragraph 17:)

The concern that some 320 animals might be housed on the holding is, I think, ill-founded.

53 Consulted about an application for a dwellinghouse on the site in 2015, the Council's Community and Animal Health Manager reported that

using the BCMS system for recording cattle, the farm at 21 April 2015 had 114 cattle registered at Mill House Farm. We are not aware of cattle at a different farm, though if they are under a different name that may account for us not having knowledge of this. With regard to sheep, a farmer is required to submit an annual figure in December. There has been no declaration since 2010.

- 54 The 'Agricultural Appraisal' submitted by BJS Farms on 23<sup>rd</sup> January 2015 in support of that application stated that the operation on the farm was then as follows:
  - 4.2 BJS Farms Ltd operates an established livestock unit consisting of a suckler cattle and some 25 breeding ewes.
  - 4.3 The suckler herd consists of 50 suckler cows mainly calving over the winter months when housed. 1 limousin bull used for breeding. The breeding stock mainly being home reared dairy X contintental cows. Approx. 5 of the heifer dairy X continental calves that are reared each year are kept for herd replacements.
  - 4.4 The 25 breeding ewes lamb late February. In addition to this BJS Farms also purchases approx. 100 additional store lambs over the winter months...
  - 4.5 BJS Farms Ltd also hand rears some 60 dairy X continental calves...
  - 4.6 BJS Farms Ltd also has two outdoor reared traditional saddle back sows...
  - 4.8 All of the land is set down as permanent pasture for the grazing of the livestock with approx. 28 acres being set aside for the production of hay/silage each year for foddering the livestock...
- 55 A table was also produced of the livestock then said to be on the site, and the proposed numbers following the erection of the third barn:

Livestock Requirements	Head now	with 3 <sup>rd</sup> barn
Suckler cows	45	45
Breeding heifers	5	5
Breeding bulls	1	1
Store cattle	45	90
Replacement heifers	5	5

Calf rearing	60	60
Breeding ewes	25	25
Breeding ram	1	1
Lambs	40	40
Store lambs (winter keep)	100	100
Breeding sows	2	2

- 56 The submission from BJS Farms in support of that application stated that there was no intention to complete the construction of the third barn due to the enterprise not being able to manage the additional livestock until they could live within sight and sound of the livestock. There is no planning permission in place or in contemplation that would enable them to do so lawfully (the current caravans requiring removal next year under the terms of the extant enforcement notice).
- 57 Advice was sought from Robson & Liddle, rural practice surveyors, in relation to the application for a dwellinghouse. That advised that a reasonable standard space requirement for a suckler cow would be 7.5 8.0 sq. m. down to 1.5 3.0 sq. m for calves. It was questionable if there is sufficient land for the livestock stated but that would depend greatly on their number and ages. They concluded, among other matters, that:
  - Livestock numbers were relatively high
  - The age of the livestock and how long they are on the holding is particularly relevant to the labour requirement
  - The amount of land cannot sustain this number of livestock, however it may depend on how long livestock are kept on the holding
  - There was a significant lack of information regarding the financials of the business which could additionally be facing considerable uncertainties with regard to land ownership.
- 58 Overall it was concluded that whilst there was a functional requirement for a dwellinghouse on the site, the financial viability of the business was not sufficiently demonstrated to justify this.
- 59 Subsequently BJS Farms have volunteered information about the number of animals on the site. In August 2016 they stated that there were 154 head of cattle on the site.

60 The Council's Animal Welfare officer has also been consulted for the information he currently holds about cattle numbers on the site. On 29 September his records were that there were 174 head of cattle on the holding.

#### 8. The available options

- 61 The Council must first decide whether it is expedient to make any Orders at all, having regard to the development plan for the area and any other material considerations. 'Doing nothing' is one potential outcome.
- 62 If it is expedient to make any Orders, the question is then the form that any such Orders should take. This could range from imposing additional conditions on the use of the barns, to requiring physical alterations to be made, to requiring the demolition and removal of the existing barns and revoking the permission for the third. The principal options set out in a consultation letter to interested parties were these:
  - (1) Require the demolition and removal of the two existing barns, and revoke the permission for the third;
  - (2) Decide to leave the permissions intact;
  - (3) Impose a suite of additional planning conditions to apply to the ongoing use of the existing two barns, and the third barn if it is built. These could address the noise and odour complaints received and seek to manage those issues, by for example requiring management plans to be in place and/or to control the hours when feed mixing could take place;
  - (4) Require physical alterations to be made to the existing barns (and the third if it is built), to assist with soundproofing;
  - (5) Require the removal of the barns and grant a replacement planning permission elsewhere on the site, further away from neighbouring residents;
  - (6) Some combination of the above.
- 63 It was explained that each of options (1) (2) and (5) were considered an unlikely outcome in this case. Options (3) and (4), or a combination of them, were said to have their merits. However consultees were informed that it was considered that a combination of additional planning conditions coupled with a revocation of the permission for the third barn, as yet unbuilt, was likely to be the preferred option. Consultees' views were invited on all options, none of which have been discounted. However the consultation naturally focussed on what the Head of Planning Services was minded to decide.

#### 9. Development Plan for the area and other policy considerations

#### The Development Plan

- 64 The principal consideration in determining the expediency of any Orders is the development plan for the area. This consists of the saved policies of the Teesdale Local Plan and is generally supportive of agricultural development.
- 65 Policy GD1 is permissive of development that is of a high standard of design and which would contribute to the quality and environment of the surrounding area; that is in keeping with the character and appearance of the area; that would not disturb or conflict with adjoining uses; that would not unreasonably harm the amenities of adjoining occupiers; that would provide adequate drainage; that would be energy-efficient; that is designed to deter crime; that would not unreasonably harm the rural landscape; that would not endanger habitats; that would not detrimentally affect archaeological assets; that would incorporate adequate landscaping; that would not be unacceptably detrimental to public health; that would not significantly pollute the environment; that would not risk water quality; that would provide adequate and safe access to the site; and that would not generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the local road network.
- 66 Policy ENV1 supports agricultural development that does not unreasonably harm the landscape or wildlife resources of the area.

#### **National Planning Policy and Guidance**

- 67 The NPPF requires local plans to support economic growth in rural areas including by promoting the development of existing agricultural businesses. Planning should prevent new and existing development from contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unreasonable levels of pollution (paragraph 109), including by ensuring that new development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the effects of pollution on general amenity (paragraph 120). Planning decisions should aim to avoid significant adverse impacts from noise, mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts from noise, and also recognise that development will often create some noise.
- 68 Planning Practice Guidance advises that planning can manage potential noise impacts in new development by for instance, reducing or containing noise at source, considering layout, or using planning conditions to restrict activities allowed and at certain times. It also recognises that odour can be a planning concern and planning conditions can be used to secure mitigation.

#### 10. Expert Reports

#### AECOM

69 As recommended by the LGO the Council commissioned reports from consultants to advise upon the amenity impacts of the barns. A report was commissioned from AECOM. The LGO's recommendation was to commission a report on the existing and prospective amenity impacts of the three barns and consider whether to make any Orders as a result. Instead AECOM addressed the issue in terms of putative fresh applications. At 3.1 of their report they stated that they "have approached the planning application as if it has just been submitted and this theme is followed through below". They

concluded that Barn 1 could reasonably have been granted permission with conditions, but that Barns 2 and 3 should not be approved in addition. Their report was issued in May 2013.

- 70 In relation to the first barn, AECOM proceeded on the basis that it could house 55 cattle. The report suggested that the visual impact should be reduced by suitable screening and through submission of materials by condition (3.6.1). Conditions were also suggested regarding drainage (3.6.2). An accompanying Odour Assessment concluded that the proposal had the potential to cause an unacceptable level of odour, again with conditions suggested (3.6.3). These conditions included that the building should not be used to permanently house cattle, and regarding the removal of bedding, feed mixing, storage of slurry, and drainage. They advised that it would not be possible to restrict the type of livestock through a planning condition. An Odour Management Plan should be introduced. A noise assessment concluded that there would be significant noise impacts (3.6.4) and suggested conditions, including times for loading and unloading cattle, and the introduction of a Noise Management Plan. Having made these recommendations, AECOM then concluded that by imposing such planning conditions, the farming operation would thereby be limited "to a point just below where it will become unacceptable".
- 71 They then considered that neither of the other two barns should be granted cumulatively with the first.
- 72 As noted above, AECOM's report did not directly address the LGO's recommendation but was instead directed to a hypothetical re-determination of the planning applications rather than to the expediency of making revocation or discontinuance Orders.

#### FAIRHURST

- 73 Subsequently the Council commissioned a further assessment from Fairhurst. They initially took the same approach as AECOM, to hypothetically redetermine the applications, and considered that all three barns could reasonably have been permitted subject to the imposition of additional conditions. This advice was received in November 2014.
- Further advice was sought from Fairhurst in order to direct them to the specific questions of revocation, modification and discontinuance. Their instructions in relation to their addendum report, which was received in August 2015, were:
  - a) To confirm whether, having regard to the known and reasonably anticipated amenity impacts of the three barns, the developments could be made acceptable;
  - b) Having regard to the full range of powers available to the Council, how that might best be achieved; and
  - c) Notwithstanding their view on the optimal solution, what a reasonable range of responses by the planning authority might be.

- 75 Fairhurst recommended that a noise management plan be imposed; that Barns 1 and 2 be physically altered; that the buildings be used only for cattle or sheep and not for pigs, poultry or any other farm animals; that the number of cattle and/or sheep in each building should be limited; and that the animal waste management plan previously approved on appeal for Barn 3 should be imposed on the continuance of the use.
- 76 They had previously advised that requirements were imposed regarding surface water run-off and slurry storage. They now advised that these requirements could be removed if it were demonstrated that they were unnecessary. They also previously advised that an Odour Management Plan should be imposed; but this was 'desirable' rather than necessary.
- 77 Fairhurst added that they were of the view that the granting of planning permission for Barns 1, 2 & 3 was not so unreasonable that no reasonable [planning authority] acting reasonably could have granted permission for the three applications. However they did maintain that in hindsight a carefully drawn up set of planning conditions designed to address the amenity issues in question could have been considered by the planning authority ensuring that there would have been no reason to refuse permission for the three barns.
- 78 Their report did also address an alternative scenario which would be to revoke the permission for the third barn, demolish or impose stringent limitations on the use of the existing two barns, and permit a replacement barn of equivalent size to all three elsewhere on the holding, away from the residents.
- 79 In summary it was therefore the view of Fairhurst that, although the Council's original grants of permission would not necessarily have been unreasonable, the existing and permitted developments would potentially fail to comply with the development plan for the area without the imposition of further control measures. The Council is not bound to accept that planning judgment or that of AECOM but due regard must be had to it when reaching the Council's own view.
- 80 Fairhurst found that the developments complied with the development plan in all material respects save for the amenity impacts on the neighbours on the issues of noise and odours. The issues of the principle of the development, siting, scale, visual impact, highways and ecology were not considered contrary to policy.
- 81 In respect of noise, in relation to Barn 1 they stated that it was:

reasonable to conclude that the proposed development could potentially give rise to noise impacts which could disturb neighbouring residents and cause unreasonable harm to amenity, contrary to Policy GD1;

in relation to Barn 2 that:

it is reasonable to consider that the proposed development, if an unrestricted use was permitted, would give rise to noise impacts potentially worsened by cumulative effects when considered in the context of Building 1. Such effects could disturb neighbouring residents and cause unreasonable harm to amenity, contrary to Policy GD1;

and in relation to Barn 3 that:

it is reasonable to conclude that the proposed development, if unrestricted use was permitted, would give rise to noise impacts made worse by potential cumulative effects when considered in the context of Buildings 1 and 2. Such effects could disturb neighbouring residents and cause unreasonable harm to amenity, contrary to Policy GD1.

- 82 In respect of odour, they made similar findings: that if an unrestricted use of the barns was permitted, the development would give rise to odour impacts which could disturb neighbouring residents and cause unreasonable harm to amenity. They therefore recommended the imposition of appropriate controls.
- 83 None of these findings are unequivocal. Fairhurst's (and AECOM's) views are expressed in terms of the potential of the developments to cause unreasonable harm. It is appropriate to consider whether they actually do so, or are likely to do so in the future. Nevertheless, Fairhurst essentially conclude that in order for the developments to comply with the development plan it is appropriate to alter the fabric of the buildings, to restrict the site operations by way of noise management and animal waste plans and to impose a ceiling on livestock numbers. AECOM would go further and say that only one barn, with conditions, can be made acceptable.

#### 11. Consultation Responses

- 84 The NPPF advises that local planning authorities should aim to involve all sections of the community in planning decisions, and accordingly the question of the Council's exercise of its powers to make revocation and discontinuance orders has been the subject of a (non-statutory) consultation exercise. A letter was despatched to the occupants of the site and those with financial interests in it, to adjoining neighbours, and to the parish council and local members together with certain statutory and internal consultees. The relevant points raised in response are set out below.
- 85 **BJS Farms**' company secretary requested financial support from the Council for professional advice in order to respond to the consultation. When asked to clarify the scope of her request, her response was:

Because of the complexity of the planning issues that Durham County Council is considering this is not the area of expertise of anyone even connected to Mill House Farm. Once again the statement that Mill House is not in a position to enter into reasonable negotiations at this time is restated.

- 86 Therefore the request for assistance remained unspecified. Officers responded to say that the question could be revisited following the committee's consideration of these issues.
- 87 BJS Farms Ltd responded further to say that the issue of maladministration is one for the Council alone, and that the farm did nothing inappropriate in submitting planning applications that went through due process. The company secretary stated that she would invoice the Council at an hourly rate plus travel costs.

- 88 The **"Windmill Residents**" group responded to ask the Council to identify who it considered to be the landowner and those with interests in the land, and whether or not Mr. & Mrs. Sewell had been consulted as they no longer held the title to the land. Officers responded to set out our understanding of the land interests, and to confirm that Mr. & Mrs. Sewell had been consulted. The "Residents" subsequently responded to ask who was dealing with the receivership, to whom the Council intended making any payments, whether Mr. & Mrs. Sewell were aware, and to ask why the Council had consulted Mr. & Mrs. Sewell. Officers responded to say the Official Receiver's details were publicly available and that the other matters raised would, where relevant, be set out in and dealt with in the instant report. Various other matters have been raised by the "Residents" in correspondence and where relevant are dealt with elsewhere in this report.
- 89 The occupier of **Thornfield**, which is a property lying some distance to the south of the barns, responded to say that he looked forward to Wind Mill returning to being a peaceful and uneventful hamlet. Both sides in the saga appeared entrenched and he had chosen not to become involved. Some noise and smells are the reality of living in a rural area where the predominant agricultural activity is livestock rearing. Whatever the outcome, the land will remain as agricultural land with or without the farm buildings. In hindsight, it might have been better if the farm buildings and entrance had been constructed further to the south, and a compromise might be to re-establish the farmyard to the south of the existing buildings away from the dwellings.
- 90 The Council's **Environmental Health Officer** responded to confirm that his service had not ascertained any statutory nuisance emanating from the site, and making the following points in order to assist the planning department in its consideration of residential amenity issues:
  - Aecom and Fairhurst's reports came to different conclusions, and it is appropriate therefore to take a balanced view of each report.
  - A further barn would increase the potential impact and therefore it would be pertinent to restrict its development or ensure significant conditions are imposed to reduce cumulative impacts.
  - Consideration should be given to restricting animal types.
  - A condition restricting the use of the barns for the housing of animals during inclement months and for calving and welfare needs should be considered.
  - A noise management plan could be onerous for the type of enterprise, and specific restrictions on hours of work & deliveries should be considered instead. 07.00 – 18.00 Mon-Fri and 09.00-18.00 Saturdays would be reasonable.
  - Physical alterations should be considered, but the potential expense was noted.
  - Concerns over the burning of waste and mud on the road can be dealt with by non-planning controls, which should not be duplicated.

- 91 The Local Highway Authority responded to say that the proposals do not raise any highways implications. The current access appears to have been improved in accordance with a condition of the permission for Barn 3 (6/2008/0256/DM). This access is acceptable from an operational and road safety point of view.
- 92 It was noted that suggestions had been received during the consultation period to move the access further south of the existing access. From a highways perspective there would be no advantage to construction of an access at an alternative location south of the existing. Equally a new access to the south could safely operate from a highway perspective.
- 93 The council's **Ecologists** responded to say they had no comments save that survey work might be required if it is proposed to demolish any of the existing buildings.
- 94 **Durham Constabulary** responded to say they had no comments.
- 95 The occupier of **Cox House Bungalow**, who is also the Steward of **Wind Mill Chapel**, responded to complain about the mud on the road and to say that she considered any planning conditions would be ignored.
- 96 Solicitors acting for **Barclays Bank plc**, who hold a secured charge over the relevant land, responded to say that the mortgage payments were outstanding and that the bank was intending to seek possession of the land. They noted that any alterations to the planning permissions might adversely affect the value of the property and therefore the value of Barclays' security. They asked that the impact of any changes on Barclays' position was considered.
- 97 The clerk to **Evenwood & Barony Parish Council** responded to say that they supported the residents of the farm and would like to see the permissions left intact and no orders made. A second preference of conditions and physical alterations to the barns was expressed. The Parish Council would not like to see Mill House Farm having to take on any additional financial burden through no fault of theirs. The Parish Council also considered that consulting the other residents of Windmill is a flawed strategy.
- 98 Further correspondence was received from **Barbara Nicholson**, who had not been individually consulted. She is the Chair of Evenwood & Barony Parish but was writing in a private capacity. She said that the Parish Council had approved all of the previous applications, and therefore the obvious choice would be to leave the permissions as they were. Failing that, she recommended that conditions and physical alterations were appropriate, with completion of the third barn allowed.
- 99 **Councillor Heather Smith** responded on her own behalf and of **Councillor Andy Turner** to say that they were aware of the long and complex history, and had avoided taking sides in what has been a highly contentious dispute. They did not express a preference for any particular option but considered the planning committee best placed to recommend the best course of action.
- 100 The Council's Landscape Officer offered the following observations:

- The existing agricultural buildings have some visual impacts in the immediate area but aren't in themselves out of keeping with its rural character. Much of the current level of visual impact comes from the visual clutter of ancillary features rather than from the buildings themselves.
- The landscape is visually open and elevated. Other locations would be likely to be more prominent in wider views, and have a greater effect on the character of the landscape being isolated and not visually associated with other buildings as they are in their current location. This would need to be taken into account in the balance of considerations.
- As the holding is small, options for re-location are limited and the development would still be likely to be a relatively prominent feature in the visual environment of nearby residents. To improve the visual amenity of local residents to a substantial degree a move would need to be accompanied by structure planting either to the buildings in their new location or along Windmill Lane (within the holding rather than the road verge). This would take time to be effective.
- Given the ownership boundary access would still need to be taken from Windmill Lane somewhere in the vicinity of the existing access. Creating a new access further south but within the holding, which might be desirable in other respects, would be likely to require the removal of roadside vegetation to achieve the necessary sightlines.
- 101 A response was received from the occupier of 5 Windmill, contending that the maximum number of stock a holding can maintain is 1 adult animal per acre of land. The options outlined in the consultation letter were said to be interesting if impractical. The preferred option was the demolition of all the buildings and revocation of the permissions. The option of carrying out physical alterations to the buildings was discounted on animal welfare (airflow) grounds. Options involving the application of further planning conditions met with objection, because of the past monitoring and compliance failures. Moving the buildings elsewhere on the site was not considered to solve the problems, which included loose dogs, feed deliveries causing damage to the highway verges, waste fires, and aggravation caused to residents by the unrestricted development of the site.
- 102 Similar and largely corroborated responses were sent by the occupants of **Etherley House, Oak Lodge, Pit Green Cottage, Ivy House Farm** and **6 Windmill**. They raised the following points:
  - The plot of about 20 acres would normally cover only 20 cattle
  - The existing barns are much larger than a traditional farm on this acreage would need
  - Approximately 160 cattle are housed at present by daily feeding, with a mix concocted on site with the extended use of tractors and machinery, including at night and in the early hours, rather than grazing

- The impact on residents' amenity has been devastating
- Complaints have been made about noise day & night; overwhelming foul smells' swarms of flies and rats, and the impact of lights left on all night
- The public road is covered in mud from the farm and conditions are dangerous
- The verges are destroyed by tractors or delivery lorries
- Deliveries to the site are excessive
- The Council's consideration is prejudiced by the consultation letter which set out the preferred course of action and "ruled out" other courses
- Existing planning conditions have been ignored and residents have no confidence that any additional ones will be enforced
- The amount of cattle on site means massive amounts of manure that is spread on the site on most weekends
- The stench makes it impossible to spend time outdoors
- There is no respite except to go away for the weekend
- Burning of toxic waste such as plastics, and dogs on the loose
- External consultants engaged by the Council have recommended remedial action
- If new conditions are imposed then these barns retain the potential to be used for intensive farming.
- A strategy of control by planning conditions has failed
- Even when emptied of all but 15 cattle, the noise emanating from the barns was found to be a 'borderline statutory nuisance'
- The farm has a high mortality rate and rotting carcasses are left by the gate for extended periods
- The recent attempt at soundproofing (barn 2) by replacing wooden slats with solid panels has made matters worse
- The crux of the problem is that the barns are too close to residents' homes
- 103 Preferences were expressed by the respondents for all the barns to be demolished, as the only way of achieving a permanent solution to the problem.

- 104 As an alternative, it was suggested that barn 3 should not exist; barn 2 should not be allowed to house cattle; and barn 1 should be allowed to house approximately 10 cattle in emergencies only. However it was also stated that this would not be a viable business model for the farmer.
- 105 Other issues raised by the residents included a contention that officers have called them 'liars' in correspondence to the LGO; that they disagreed with the process of decision-making in this case; and a litany of past incompetence by the Council.
- 106 Officers have not alleged that any residents are 'liars' although, in the light of the conviction of one of those residents on deception charges, there is some cause to doubt the veracity and credibility of her accounts.
- 107 The decision-making process in this case was decided by the Cabinet at its meeting on 14 September and there is no proposal to re-visit the process, which would in any event not be within the gift of this planning committee.
- 108 Several issues arising from the history of the site have been raised. However the issue for Members now is to consider the adequacy of the planning controls over the barns and to advise the Head of Planning & Assets on whether those controls should be altered. It should be assumed that any planning conditions will be capable of enforcement.
- 109 No responses were received from the Official Receiver, the occupants of properties at Windmill Farm, High Cox House, Springfield, Nettlebed Cottage or Nettlebed House or the Environment Agency, or from the owner of the adjoining freehold land to the south, over which BJS Farms are thought to have an agricultural tenancy.

#### 12. Assessment of Current Harm

- 110 The LGO acknowledged in correspondence in December 2012 that the use of the site was then "radically different" from the use between 2006 and 2010. The position then under discussion by AECOM was that the barns would house some 50 or so cattle in winter or emergency conditions.
- 111 It does not appear that the use of the barns in the recent past has been of the scale that was reported to the LGO by the residents. Currently there are said to be around 160 cattle and some sheep on the site, although officers' site visits have not identified cattle on the site in these numbers. It is unknown whether there are any 'linked holdings' to the site to which cattle can be moved without involving the cattle tracing service. Although local residents have continued to complain about noise and odours, Environmental Health officers have found no nuisances and planning officers have found nothing to concern them on recent site visits.

#### 13. Assessment of Potential Harm

112 However, it is also the case that the existing barns are not being used to their maximum potential under the current planning permissions, and the third barn

has not yet been built. It is the advice of Fairhurst, and to a greater extent AECOM, that unacceptable impacts on residential amenity would result if they were to be so used.

#### 14. The preferred option

113 The Council is entitled to take into account the potential for future harm to amenity when considering whether to make any revocation or discontinuance Orders. The evidence, and the professional advice received by the Council, is that the current planning controls on the site are such that there is a risk to the amenity of local residents if the barns are all built and used to their natural capacity. The fact that they are not currently so used does not prevent the making of an Order so to prevent harm occurring before it arises. It is however not possible to say with any degree of certainty whether any such Orders would be confirmed by the Secretary of State.

#### **Option (1): Demolition & Revocation**

114 The first option would be to require the existing barns to be demolished and to revoke the permission for the third. Whilst this would make future monitoring of the site unnecessary, it is not an option that is supported by either AECOM or Fairhurst, both of whom accept that at least one of the barns can be made acceptable in planning terms. This option is therefore unlikely to be expedient in the interests of the planning of the area and, in the absence of a planning justification to require the site to be cleared, it is considered that it would be a disproportionate interference with the landowner's property interests and so incompatible with the landowner's Human Rights.

#### **Option (2): Doing Nothing**

- 115 The main objections to making any Orders are that they are presently unnecessary, because there is no unacceptable harm resulting from the current uses of the barns, and that it would be a waste of public funds to have to pay the compensation especially when there appear to be no current prospects of the use intensifying to unacceptable levels. One option is therefore to decline to take any action at this stage, but to keep the situation under review with a view to making Orders in future if the use does unacceptably intensify.
- 116 It must be acknowledged however that this site places particularly large demands on Council resources. A decision to 'do nothing' is unlikely to lead to any diminution in the volume of complaints the Council receives. Additionally, the making of Orders, requiring confirmation by the Secretary of State, can take a considerable amount of time, which could potentially mean unacceptable uses of the site in the time required for confirmation of any future Orders.
- 117 The LGO found evidence of past harm to amenity, even if some of it was based on evidence disputed by the farmers and some of which is now in doubt after the conviction on deception charges of one of the complainants. The future ownership of the land is also in some doubt now that it appears to

vest in receivers and the bank is seeking to take possession, presumably with a view to a re-sale.

- 118 Additionally, the advice from both Aecom and Fairhurst is that, if the planning position is left unchecked, the activities in the barns could increase to the extent that harm to residents' amenities is caused but which would not be subject to planning controls.
- 119 The current preferred option therefore lies somewhere in between these two extremes of clearing the site and doing nothing.

#### **Option (3): Impose planning conditions**

- 120 Both AECOM and Fairhurst have recommended suites of planning conditions, albeit that AECOM consider that only one barn would be acceptable even with these, whereas Fairhurst consider that all three barns can be made acceptable.
- 121 AECOM recommended conditions to improve the visual impact of the first barn by suitable screening and material. Conditions were suggested regarding drainage. Odour-related conditions were suggested including that the building should not be used to permanently house cattle, regarding the removal of bedding, feed mixing, storage of slurry and drainage. They did not consider that it was possible to restrict the type of livestock. Noise-related conditions were also suggested including the times for loading and unloading cattle.
- 122 Fairhurst recommended, for all three barns, a noise management plan, a limitation on livestock types to sheep and cattle, a limitation on numbers, and an animal waste plan. They also suggested physical alterations to the buildings, which will be dealt with below.
- 123 Some of these suggestions are incorporated into the preferred option set out below.

#### **Option (4): Physical alterations**

- 124 Fairhurst suggested that the barns should require revised elevational treatment and access. It is considered that this is unnecessary depending on the suite of conditions that are imposed. The access arrangements to Barn 2 have already been altered, albeit without prior notification. The access now faces away from the farmyard and the northern elevation facing the yard has been closed up. This is to do what any elevational treatment measures to that barn would likely have required, although consultation responses have noted the need to maintain airflow in the buildings and it is not clear that the measures that have been taken have actually improved matters. It is also important that elevational treatment measures do not impede the free flow of air through the buildings, as animal welfare requires the provision of adequate ventilation.
- 125 One consultation response has suggested amending the access to the site so as to re-orientate the farmyard south of the existing buildings and further away from residents. This would also result in the access being re-sited to the south. Although such measures would potentially improve the impact on the residents' amenities, it is not considered that they are necessary in view of the

hours of working conditions that it is proposed to impose. Additionally, a new access to the south of the barns would appear to require the use of land that is not within the existing holding, or would require the removal of existing well-established boundary vegetation.

#### **Option (5): Replacement planning permission**

126 One option is to require the existing buildings to be demolished (or to prohibit their use) and to grant a replacement planning permission elsewhere on the site away from the neighbours. This would have the particular advantage of eliminating complaints based on the proximity of the barns to the neighbours. However, the site levels rise significantly to the east of the existing buildings and so a replacement building would be unlikely to be as acceptable in landscape terms. Additionally this would be a particularly disruptive measure. Although the land value is unlikely to diminish significantly, so limiting the compensation payable on that ground, there would be significant costs involved in rebuilding the barns elsewhere on the site, which would be unlikely to be outweighed by the public benefit if the use of the existing barns can be made acceptable.

#### **Option (6): Revocation and Conditions**

- 127 This is the preferred option. Balancing the views of AECOM with those of Fairhurst, and taking all other consultation responses into account, it is considered that the existing two barns can be made acceptable, but not a third. It is therefore proposed to revoke the planning permission for the third barn. The alternative of serving a 'completion notice' under section 94 of the 1990 Act, which would (after a period of not less than 12 months) remove the permission without giving rise to a compensation entitlement, has been considered, but it does not appear to be an appropriate use of the power where the planning authority does not in fact wish to see the development completed.
- 128 The two existing barns should be made subject to a number of additional planning conditions. These do not include all of those matters recommended by Aecom or Fairhurst. It is considered that they should cover the following matters:
  - a) A limitation on the type of livestock permitted to be housed in each of the barns. Specifically, cattle and sheep are permissible but not pigs, poultry or other farm animals. Although this will restrict the scope of the current enterprise to diversify, this restriction is consistent with the current farming practice.
  - b) A prohibition on using either of the barns for housing any livestock outside the months of November to April (inclusive) unless as a result of sickness, quarantine or new births.
  - c) Adoption of the waste management plan previously approved on appeal to apply to the continued use of both the existing barns.
  - d) A prohibition on mechanical feed mixing outside the hours of between 7.00am and 6.00pm on any day.

- e) A prohibition on farm deliveries and removals outside the hours of 7.00am to 6.00pm on Mondays to Fridays and 9.00am to 6.00pm on Saturdays, with no deliveries or removals on Sundays or public holidays.
- f) A prohibition on slurry without the prior approval of its storage methods.
- g) The installation and subsequent maintenance of a drainage scheme for the barns.
- 129 With the addition of these conditions, the noise issues at the site are addressed by the limitations on animal types, the winter housing restriction, the requirement in the existing waste management plan for mucking out to be carried out in daylight hours, and the time restrictions on mechanical feed mixing and deliveries. These conditions cover the issues that are most likely to be a source of noise that can be reasonably controlled and are therefore preferable to the noise management plan suggested by Fairhurst.
- 130 The proposed cap on animal numbers is described by Fairhurst in their addendum report (at paragraph 3.30 et seq.) as being required for animal welfare reasons. If the animals are treated adequately then they are less likely to make distress calls, and so there is a direct relationship between animal welfare and the amenity of adjoining residents. However, the existence of animal welfare regulations and supervision by Defra and other agencies would mean that planning conditions would essentially duplicate other statutory controls. They are therefore not considered to be required. The size of the barns should effectively self-regulate the cattle and sheep numbers within them.
- 131 Significant sources of odour are mucking out and the storage and spreading of manure. These issues are covered by the existing waste management plan, which it is now proposed to apply to the site rather than to rely on the building of the third barn in order to bring it into operation. The restriction on the types of livestock, and the seasonal restriction, will also address potential odour emissions. There is currently no slurry on the site, manure being collected in a bedded court system and so no need for a slurry store, but if it is to be introduced then storage arrangements will need to be approved.
- 132 Fairhurst have suggested that a drainage condition might be unnecessary, but the scope for standing dirty water after mucking out causing unpleasant odours suggests that a drainage scheme is required.
- 133 The combination of the above suggested planning conditions would mean that further physical alterations to either of the barns would be considered unnecessary.

#### 15. Human Rights

134 Article 8 (protecting private and family life and the home) and Article 1 of the First Protocol (peaceful enjoyment of possessions) to the ECHR are engaged. These are qualified rights. Interference with article 8 rights may be permissible where necessary. In all cases the interference must be proportionate to the legitimate aim pursued. In this case the proposed measures are considered to uphold the neighbours' article 8 rights and to be a proportionate interference with the landowner's property rights, and the authority is required to pay compensation resulting from the proposed interference with the development rights over the land.

#### 16. Conclusions

- 135 It is considered that some amendments to the planning controls relating to the land are appropriate in order to prevent future issues of noise and odours affecting the local residents' amenities. The current scale of operations at the site is not considered to have any unreasonable effects. Officers do not consider that the existing levels of use of the barns have the devastating effects contended for by the neighbours. The measures proposed are not identical to either the AECOM or the Fairhurst suggestions, but are expected to provide an acceptable outcome that balances the concerns of the residents with the business requirements of the farming enterprise.
- 136 It is important to recognise that the agricultural use of the land itself does not require planning permission. Issues complained of such as the burning of toxic waste on the site, loose dogs on the road, rotting carcasses at the site entrance, and so on, appear to be carried out without reference to whether or not there are any barns on the site and are not within the scope of the planning authority's control. The problem of mud on the road is noted but this is not unusual in agricultural areas and the Local Highway Authority is not recommending any conditions to deal with this.
- 137 The proposed conditions relating to Barns 1 and 2 appear to be consistent with the current scope of the farming enterprise, as is the revocation of the permission for the third barn. There are no apparent plans to complete the building of that barn, with the site occupiers having previously stated that they would not do so without planning permission for a dwellinghouse on the site. There is no such planning permission.
- 138 The proposed measures will therefore restrict the scope of the enterprise to diversify or to expand significantly, but it is not anticipated that they will constrain its current operations to any unreasonable degree. They will however give the local residents the assurances that the uses of the barns in future can be constrained to acceptable levels. It is therefore considered expedient in the light of the development plan and particularly local plan policy GD1, other material considerations and the proper planning of the area to make Orders to revoke the permission for the third barn and to impose further planning conditions on the continued use of the existing two barns to achieve the proposed controls set out above.

#### 17. Recommendation

139 As noted earlier in this report, the committee's role is to make a recommendation to the Head of Planning & Assets for his decision. It is recommended that Members consider this report and state their opinion to the

Head of Planning & Assets about whether or not the preferred option set out above is agreed.

#### Contact: Laura Renaudon 03000 269886 or Stephen Reed 03000 263870

#### **BACKGROUND PAPERS**

Local Government Ombudsman's reports of 2012 and 2016 AECOM assessments of 2013 Fairhurst assessment of 2014 and addendum of 2015 Development plan documents National Planning Policy Framework of 2012 Consultation responses received

#### DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of **Area Planning Committee (South and West)** held in Council Chamber, Council Offices, Spennymoor on **Thursday 22 September 2016 at 2.00 pm** 

#### Present:

#### **Councillor H Nicholson (Chairman)**

#### Members of the Committee:

Councillors B Armstrong, D Bell, K Davidson, J Gray, S Morrison, A Patterson, G Richardson, L Taylor, F Tinsley, C Wilson and S Zair

#### 1 Apologies

Apologies for absence were received by Councillors D Boyes, J Clare, M Dixon and C Kay.

#### 2 Substitute Members

Councillor J Gray substituted for M Dixon and F Tinsley for J Clare.

#### 3 Declarations of Interest (if any)

No declarations of interest were received.

#### 4 Minutes

The Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 July 2016 were agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to Councillor L Taylor's apologies being recorded.

#### 5 Applications to be determined

#### a DM/16/01931/FPA - 16 Meadhope Street, Wolsingham

The order of business was amended in order for application 5 e) on the Agenda to be considered first.

Consideration was given to the report of the Planning Officer regarding an application for the retrospective installation of UPVC windows at 16 Meadhope Street, Wolsingham.

The Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation which included plans and photographs of the site. Members had also attended a site visit to the property.

Councillor Shuttleworth, Local Member, addressed the Committee in support of the application having requested that it be called to Committee. He referred to the recent renovation as high standard and reflected on the properties' previous years, having been pebble dashed and unsightly. The wooden framed windows which were manufactured in the 1980's were unable to last more than ten years, regardless of their treatment. Furthermore the permission which had been granted in November 2014 only referred to the construction of UPVC windows and did not refer to sliding sash style windows. The current windows which had been installed were an upgrade to the previous windows as Members would have observed on the site visit, and they benefitted the visual appearance of the street.

The Principal Planning Officer confirmed that when planning permission was granted in 2014, a detailed plan showing sliding sash style windows would have been attached to the planning permission; however in response to Councillor Patterson he confirmed that a copy was not available to the Committee.

Councillor Davidson confirmed that the Committee could not consider debating the quality of UPVC or wooden frames; the point of Article 4 was to ensure that the character of the windows was correct in relation to the conservation area. The windows installed were not a sliding sash window and that is what had been required by the previous permission granted. He referred to the significance of planning control and the Article 4 Direction which removed permitted development rights in order to preserve, and in this case enhance, the characteristics of buildings. The fact that the building had been previously been pebble dashed and now wasn't indicated that the area was improving and to ensure that it continued to improve for future generations, Councillor Davidson moved the recommendation for approval.

Councillor B Armstrong referred to the number of properties listed within the report which had been refused permission for applications with regard to non-sliding sash windows and considered approval would be unfair to those who had conformed to the required standard. In addition, if the Committee allowed one application, it would set a precedent for future applications and therefore, in order to protect the historical character of the Wolsingham Conservation Area, Councillor Armstrong seconded the recommendation.

Councillor Richardson referred to the photograph of the building and high standard of work done to the property. With regards to the rest of the street, there were existing windows of all shapes and sizes and he did not see a problem with the application and could therefore not support the recommendation to refuse.

Councillor Morrison noted issues with the style and design of the windows which had been installed and suggested that Members should show consideration as to whether the design of the windows were of a satisfactory standard.

#### Resolved

That the application be refused on the grounds outlined in the report.

#### b DM/16/02622/FPA - Caravan, Spring Lane, Sedgefield

Consideration was given to the report of the Planning Officer regarding an application for the conversion of redundant storage/workshop building to form a single dwelling.

The Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation which included plans and photographs of the site.

A late representation had been received from Sedgefield Town Council and Councillor A Wills had attended to put forward representations on their behalf. He referred to the previous application which had been refused and the subsequent appeal which had been dismissed by the Planning Inspector. With regards to Paragraph 55 of the NPPF, no special circumstances had been presented by the applicant to satisfy that the building was capable of conversion or reuse without substantial or complete rebuilding, and no structural assessments or building surveys had been carried out to establish whether the building was safe to be converted. The only addition to the original application was a visual assessment by a chartered building engineer and chartered surveyor, however this had still not determined that the building was sound or capable of conversion. He referred to the outcome of the appeal which had concluded that the development was unacceptable as it would be in an isolated, and thereby unsustainable, location. He advised that any business which had previously been carried out at the site, had ceased in 1993 and the building had not been used since, nor had there been any attempt to clean up the site. The appeal was dismissed on the basis that it did not satisfy the criteria of the NPPF - it did not amount to a sustainable form of development, contrary to the overarching sustainability objectives of the Framework. Therefore on behalf of the Town Council, he reiterated their opposition to the application and urged the Committee to refuse it.

Councillor Tinsley advised that the Committee could not support the application on the sole basis that the site would be cleaned up and considering there had been no material change since the original application, he moved the recommendation to refuse.

Councillor Davidson agreed that there was nothing contained in the report which would overturn the original decision and that of the Planning Inspector and seconded the recommendation.

In response to a query from Councillor Wilson, the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that the site was subject to a standard contaminated land condition, however there had been no issues raised with regards to contamination and there had been some work undertaken to remove waste from the site.

#### Resolved

That the application be refused on the grounds outlined in the report.

#### c DM/16/01871/FPA - Land to the West of Corbrae, Todhills

Consideration was given to the report of the Planning Officer regarding an application for the erection of a single detached dwelling on land to the West of Corbrae, Todhills.

The Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation which included plans and photographs of the site. Members had also attended a site visit to the property.

Councillor Geldard addressed the Committee in support of the application. As Local Member and Leader of Spennymoor Town Council, he was also aware of many key Councillors in favour of the application. The application had been put forward by an applicant with a growing family, who had lived in the community for all of her adult life and whose family had lived in the area for generations. This application would allow her to continue to reside in the area and free up her existing undersized property for her parents to occupy. The site had formerly housed a farmhouse and farm buildings which had rendered the land useless for grazing or crops. Without redevelopment the land would be left vacant and useless for years to come. Although the land had been described as greenfield, there was clear evidence to argue that it was brownfield land and therefore meet the objectives of the NPPF. He urged the Committee not to reject the application on grounds which were arguable, and not to uproot the family.

Councillor Thompson, Local Member, addressed the Committee in support of the application. He expressed disappointment that the application was recommended for refusal and commented on the grey areas considering the absence of a Local Plan. With reference to Paragraph 55 of the NPPF, he confirmed that the objective was to promote sustainable development in rural areas and housing should be located where it would enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. The support that could be given to nearby villages was evident: Byers Green was 500m away via a DCC maintained footpath and the Primary School which was under capacity and had only been built 9 years ago, could be attended by the two children who would occupy this property. With regards to the bus service, Councillor Thompson pointed out that it was adequate enough to support the village of Byers Green, which was home to a Pub, Club, Post Office, a recently established restaurant and it had also recently had an application approved for 6 apartments. With this in mind, to hear Byers Green and Newfield being described as lower order settlements and having their sustainability guestioned was surprising. To refuse this application would be bad news for rural communities. He reminded Members that although the emerging County Durham Plan could not be given any weight, some consideration should be given as it progressed through the stages of preparation. Consideration should be given to the suggestion that Mid Durham would provide 18% of the housing requirement in County Durham and of that, 11% would be windfall developments. He urged Members not to dismiss the application as it would dismiss the right of many people to do the same.

The applicant's agent addressed the Committee with regards to the reasons for refusal. The development was referred to as isolated development in the countryside, however, in reality the existing properties in Todhills were far from isolated; the site was in the middle of a row of existing dwellings and the boundaries

referred to were too outdated to be relied upon. It was said that the site was unsustainable for new housing development, yet for decades it had housed a farm house and outbuildings up to the 1980's and there was a bus stop right outside of the boundary. Although the site had been cleared, the foundations had not, which had left the land with no agricultural value. The applicant was an established member of a community in which residents wanted her to remain. This development would free up the property in which she was currently living, for her parents to move into. The NPPF stressed that a range of housing could be considered and it was for the Committee to decide whether, on balance this development was acceptable. With reference to Local Plan Policies, he confirmed that they were so far out of date, they would be disregarded by the Planning Inspector.

The Chairman reminded Members that any reference to the County Durham Plan should be disregarded and asked the Senior Planning Officer to clarify points raised regarding greenfield/brownfield land and bus services in the area. She confirmed that the NPPF considered previous development which was occupied by previous structures as brownfield land but excluded any agricultural buildings. In addition land on which buildings had blended into the landscape over the process of time was considered to be greenfield. With regards to this site the land had, over time, been grassed over and blended in to the landscape, therefore it was considered to be greenfield. With regards to bus services, there was a bus stop, but services were limited with no service on a Sunday. The area was isolated and there were no immediate amenities - to access them, it would be necessary to travel to neighbouring villages and there would be strong reliance on a private car.

Councillor Richardson confirmed that he had attended the site visit and had taken the opportunity to walk around the site, observing clear remains of the former buildings. The land was not fit to graze animals on and he did not consider it was greenfield. In addition he considered that the development was suitable for the existing area and could not support the recommendation to refuse, therefore he and seconded the application for approval.

Councillor B Armstrong confirmed that she also lived in a rural community and unlike this application, there was no nearby school and lacking a bus service. She agreed with the speakers and saw no problem with the proposal. Although the site had been described as greenfield in the report, Councillor Armstrong expressed uncertainty and considered it could be difficult to defend a decision to refuse at appeal. In her own locality, there had been applications refused on land where buildings had sat 40 years previously and following appeal, sited houses.

Councillor Tinsley added that the Committee should seek to support rural communities and there were arguable facts regarding whether the land was greenfield or brownfield, or whether it was an isolated location. It was clear from the site visit that there were remains of former buildings, in addition to a large industrial site 10m from the site boundary, and a cattery and other residential buildings stood at either side. Situated in the next settlement, there was a Primary School and a Secondary School within 1.5 miles – these were far below the usual distances for a traditional rural village. He referred to the photograph which identified that the land had previously been developed and regarded the description

of greenfield land as debatable. Based on the evidence which had been put forward, he was in favour of the proposal.

Councillor Zair referred to Paragraph 55 of the NPPF which clearly cited that developments should not be permitted in isolated locations in the absence of special circumstances. He confirmed that evidenced by two local Councillors, there had been enough special circumstances to satisfy the Framework.

Councillor Patterson disagreed the site was in an isolated location. It was on a main through route with a bus service and it was within walking distance of a local Primary School. She also supported the application.

Councillor Davidson reiterated that questions had been raised regarding whether the previous development had blended into the landscape and could be defined as greenfield land.

#### Resolved

That the development, by virtue of its location, siting and access to surrounding facilities consisted of sustainable development and represented an acceptable design and would contribute to the economic and social dimensions of sustainable development. The adverse impacts of the scheme were not therefore considered to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal when assessed against the policies of the NPPF, taken as a whole and the application was approved, subject to Conditions being agreed by planning officers in consultation with the Chair of the Committee.

#### d 3/2003/0267 - Land North of Smith Street, Tow Law

Consideration was given to the report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding an application for the up to 38 dwellings with all matters reserved at Land North of Smith Street, Tow Law.

The Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation which included plans and photographs of the site.

Councillor Hart, Local Member, had submitted a statement in support of the application which was read out in his absence. He confirmed that the long term sustainability of Tow Law relied upon attracting and retaining residents. This development would add to the local housing stock and improve the visual appeal of the town, by replacing a neglected and semi-derelict part of town with a modern development.

The Chairman queried the reduced level of off-site contributions and the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that although £1000 per dwelling would be the normal amount required, planning authorities were required to take a flexible approach in accordance with the viability of the site and £20k was deemed to be an appropriate sum in the circumstances. There were potential unknowns regarding the build cost as the area had left behind a coal mining legacy and there was also a concern regarding market values, which could potentially impact on the viability of the

development. Should the market value increase, the agreement would be reviewed and there would be an opportunity to maximise the agreement.

Councillor Richardson moved the recommendation for approval.

Councillor Patterson referred to the 15m buffer zone on the application site, adjacent to Hedleyhope Nature Reserve. She queried whether the dwellings which were adjacent to the buffer zone would have permitted development rights removed in order to maintain the 15m zone. The Senior Planning Officer confirmed that the zone would be an area of reserved and maintained land beyond the perimeter of the site and would not include gardens. Councillor Patterson seconded the recommendation.

In response to concerns from Councillor Armstrong, the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that Ecology was being consulted regarding the landscaping of the buffer zone and limiting the impact on the Nature Reserve would be advised.

#### Resolved

That the application be approved on the grounds outlined in the report.

Councillor Patterson left the meeting.

#### e DM/15/03615/FPA - Land to the Rear of 7 And 8 Meadow Close, Middleton-in-Teesdale

Consideration was given to the report of the Senior Planning Officer regarding an application for the erection of 5 detached dwellings and 4 semi-detached dwellings on land to the rear of 7 and 8 Meadow Close, Middleton-in-Teasdale.

The Senior Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation which included plans and photographs of the site.

The Senior Planning Officer confirmed that a late representation had been received from Middleton-in-Teasdale and Newbiggin Parish Council, however the issues raised had been previously submitted and a summary was contained in the report.

Councillor Henderson had submitted a statement which was read out in his absence on behalf of himself and Councillor R Bell. As Local Members they had concerns regarding the risk of flooding in the area following heavy rainfall and as the site would be built on a gradient, the water would run downhill and cause flooding to the bungalows in Meadow Close. There were also concerns raised regarding the roads of the existing houses as the previous developer, who was a relative of the current applicant, had failed to complete the roads and drainage up to the required standard. This had impacted on the residents now for 10 years and should the Committee approve the application, Councillor Henderson requested that conditions were attached in order to alleviate the risks and reservations of the current residents. Finally, he requested that that Members visit the site before making a decision. Mr Selby addressed the Committee on behalf of a group of residents in Meadow Close. His statement had been circulated to Members in advance of the hearing. Residents of the existing development were concerned that the development could increase flood risk in the area. He regarded the assumptions by Northumbrian Water Ltd, that the existing infrastructure was capable of hosting the increased water flow, as being flawed. The new development would require substantial earthworks to construct the new homes and the installation of new drainage systems. Any resulting land slip or drainage malfunction may lead to the properties on Meadow Close becoming unstable. The site was greenfield and considering the building going on in nearby Barnard Castle and Startforth, there was no special circumstances to build the properties on it, a requirement of the NPPF. Mr Selby confirmed that residents were requesting the Committee to attach a number of conditions with regards to the proposal, as follows;

- Resurfacing of the access road on Meadow Close and adoption of the highway by the Council before work commenced. The road had not been surfaced adequately by the previous developer the additional traffic from nine properties would worsen the condition of the road.
- An alternative layout for the development which would improve the visual impact of the proposal, create fewer issues regarding the loss of light, and reduce flood risk.
- Proper screening and fencing of the site for health and safety reasons and the assurance that the provisions of the Party Wall Act 1996 were complied with.
- A time limit for completion of the works.
- Plans to maintain the landscaping of the area, either by the County Council or Parish Council.

The Applicant addressed the Committee and confirmed that she was the daughter in law of the aforementioned developer of the properties on Meadow Close, and wanted to see the site completed. She confirmed the need for modern starter homes and homes for retiring locals to move in to as there was a shortage of these types of properties in the area. She concluded that the site plans had been designed following advice from Planning Officers and the relevant planning policies - the four semi-detached properties were unable to be located alongside the existing semi-detached properties due to the gradient of the land. The Applicant's Agent and Architect confirmed that with regards to the concerns of residents regarding flood risk, a large on site storage container was proposed to alleviate any flood risk and although there was no intention to develop the highway before work commenced, it had been scheduled in accordance with advice from the Highways Authority.

In response to a question from Councillor Davidson the Applicant's Agent confirmed that a water tank would be located underneath the site to accommodate surface water runoff and reiterated that Northumbrian Water Ltd's existing infrastructure was capable of dealing with any additional flow generated.

The Chairman reminded Members that the conditions requested by Mr Selby were not something that the Committee could insist upon and the Solicitor confirmed that any conditions imposed would need to be in accordance with planning policy. The Senior Planning Officer confirmed that the Drainage and Coastal Protection Team and Northumbrian Water Ltd were both satisfied that the proposed system was adequate. With regards to the road surface, it was not practical to complete before work commenced, as it was the access road to the site and the top layer would not withstand the work process. He referred to condition 14 which required that upon completion of the seventh dwelling the work be completed and in addition, the final two properties not be occupied until it had been completed. He was satisfied that the conditions attached were adequate and that no further conditions could be added to the proposal.

The Solicitor confirmed that the change in layout of the site which had been requested could not be pursued as it would essentially change the permission sought.

Councillor Davidson confirmed that there were no grounds to refuse the application and felt reassured by the statements of the Senior Planning Officer. He therefore moved that the application be approved.

Councillor Tinsley had concerns regarding condition 14. If the final two properties were not occupied, residents would be left with an unfinished road once again. He suggested the removal of the final sentence, that of which stated that the dwellings were not to be occupied until the road was completed. The Senior Planning Officer confirmed that should the Committee wish to put forward a motion to amend the condition, this was a possibility, however Councillor Armstrong suggested that the removal of the paragraph would not be within the interests of the existing residents. It would allow the properties to be occupied first, which would then give the developer an unlimited amount of time to complete the resurfacing of the road. She suggested that the final sentence added pressure to the developer to finish the road as it was in their best interests for the dwellings to be occupied as quickly as possible and completing the road was the only way to ensure that. Councillor Tinsley concurred and withdrew his suggestion to amend condition 14.

Councillor Armstrong seconded the recommendation.

#### Resolved

That the application be approved on the grounds outlined in the report.

#### f DM/16/00848/FPA - Fern House, Cotherstone, Barnard Castle

Consideration was given to the report of the Assistant Planning Officer regarding an application for the erection of first floor and single storey extension to the rear of Fern House, Cotherstone, Barnard Castle.

The Principal Planning Officer gave a detailed presentation which included plans and photographs of the site.

The Applicant addressed the Committee and confirmed that when the property was purchased in 2014, it was in need of substantial renovation. The plan was to retain

the original character of the building and work commenced immediately to install the sliding sash windows in order to improve the front elevation of the house. Many favourable comments had been made about the improvements already made and the rear extension was always intentional. The claims by the Parish Council that the footprint of the house would be doubled, was incorrect. The increase was in fact only 17% and the extension would only take up 4.5% of the rear garden, which equated to the surface area of the existing patio. Many inaccurate claims had been made by the Parish Council and their statement may have been responsible for the objections received from other residents in the area. With regards to the original application, the balcony had been removed in order to respect privacy concerns. With regards to the additional two gable end windows, they would be obscure glazed as it they were proposed bathroom windows. He accepted the work would cause a disturbance but he had always intended to keep neighbours well informed. He was surprised that the application could be brought to Committee based on factually incorrect statements by the Parish Council and confirmed that the delay in the planning process had impacted personally and financially.

In response to a query from the Chairman, the applicant confirmed that there was a separation distance of 21m to the nearest property.

Councillor Davidson moved that the recommendation be approved and Councillor Tinsley seconded the proposal.

Councillor Richardson added that local members were comfortable with the proposal following the removal of the balcony.

#### Resolved

That the application be approved subject to the conditions outline in the report.



## **Planning Services**

# **COMMITTEE REPORT**

## **APPLICATION DETAILS**

APPLICATION NO:	DM/16/01325/VOC
FULL APPLICATION DESCRIPTION:	Variation of condition 2 of application DM/15/00292/FPA to amend the design of scheme (Retrospective)
NAME OF APPLICANT:	Mr Terry McGivern
Address: Electoral Division: Case Officer:	Site Of Former School 28 Front Street Staindrop DL2 3NH Barnard Castle East Tim Burnham Senior Planning Officer 03000 263963 tim.burnham@durham.gov.uk

## **DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND PROPOSALS**

- 1. The application site is the former Old School house site which sits between Front Street and Swan Wynd towards the eastern side of Staindrop. The site sits within Staindrop Conservation Area.
- 2. The site has planning approval for 5 dwellings at the site (DM/15/00292/FPA). Two dwellings were proposed within the former school house and gymnasium building, while 3 new dwellings were proposed to replace existing buildings fronting onto Swan Wynd to the rear of the site.
- 3. Development has commenced on the site, but not in accordance with the approved plans. This resulted in the service of a temporary stop notice, which has since expired.
- 4. This application has been made on a retrospective basis to regularise a number of design changes to the previously approved scheme. There is no change to the number of dwellings and site arrangement.
- 5. One of the main changes to the approved scheme is the heights of the new build dwellings on Swan Wynd. The westernmost pair of dwellings (plots 4 and 5) have been built to a height of 9.5mtrs, which is 0.9mtrs higher than the previously approved height of 8.6mtrs. The easternmost dwelling (plot 3) has been built to a height of 9.2mtrs, which is 1.4mtrs higher than the previously approved height of 7.8mtrs. In addition, the water table and stone quoin detail between plots 4 and 5 has been omitted and changes are sought to window (including rooflights) and door details. Some of those will require works to change the windows already installed on the Swan Wynd facing elevation.

- 6. Changes to the former Gymnasium building would include internal alterations to provide a first floor bedroom to the front of the property, the omission of a porch canopy, change to the position of a chimney stack and changes to windows (including rooflights) and doors.
- 7. The application has been referred to the planning committee by Cllr Richardson and Staindrop Parish Council on visual grounds and due to concerns that the development is larger than was approved.

#### **PLANNING HISTORY**

 Planning approval was granted for the development of the site for 5 dwellings in 2015 (DM/15/00292/FPA). Prior to that a different scheme for 5 residential units including the demolition of outbuildings was approved in 2013 (6/2013/0305/DM & 6/2013/0306/DMCA).

## **PLANNING POLICY**

#### NATIONAL POLICY

- 9. The Government has consolidated all planning policy statements, guidance notes and many circulars into a single policy statement, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). However, the NPPF does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. Proposed development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be approved and proposed development that conflicts should be refused, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.
- 10. NPPF Part 6 Delivering a Wide Choice of High Quality Homes. Housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. Local planning authorities should seek to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities. To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities; however, isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided.
- 11. NPPF Part 7 Requiring Good Design. The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people. Planning policies and decisions should aim to ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, establish a strong sense of place, optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, respond to local character and history, create safe and accessible environments and are visually attractive. Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions.
- 12. NPPF Part 11 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment. The Planning System should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests, recognising the wider benefits of ecosystems, minimising the impacts on biodiversity, preventing both new and existing development from

contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from pollution and land stability and remediating contaminated or other degraded land where appropriate

13. *NPPF Part 12 – Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment*. States that heritage need to be recognised as an irreplaceable resource and to be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan

#### LOCAL PLAN POLICY:

- 14. Policy GD1: General Development Criteria All new development and redevelopment within the district should contribute to the quality and built environment of the surrounding area and includes a number of criteria in respect of impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area; avoiding conflict with adjoining uses; and highways impacts
- 15. Policy BENV 3: Development Adversely Affecting the Character of a Listed Building: Development which would adversely affect the character of a listed building or its setting will not be permitted.
- 16. Policy BENV4: Development within and or adjoining conservation areas: relates to development within or adjoining Conservation Areas and requires development to be acceptable in scale and materials. It requires that trees, hedgerows, landscape features, views and undeveloped areas which contribute to the character and appearance of the area and its setting should be protected. It states that proposals which would adversely affect the setting of a conservation area or the views into or out of the area will not be permitted
- 17. Policy ENV8: Safeguarding plant and animal species protected by law: Development should not significantly harm plants or species protected by law and where appropriate adequate mitigation measures should be provided.
- 18. Policy H4: Development on site of less than 0.4hectares within settlement boundaries: It states that backland development will only be permitted where it would not cause unacceptable harm to the privacy or residential amenity of the occupants of nearby dwellings
- 19. Policy H10: Conversions of Buildings to residential use: The restoration or conversion of buildings to Residential use will be permitted within the development limits.
- 20. Policy H12: Design: The local planning authority will encourage high standards of design in new houses and housing sites, in terms of layout and organisation of public and private open space, including meeting the needs of the disabled and elderly and the consideration of energy conservation and Local Agenda 21. Residential proposals should comply with the criteria of policy GD1 where relevant to the development involved.
- 21. Policy ECON3: Conversion of Buildings and Land Currently in employment use: Within the development limits of settlements shown on inset proposal maps the change of use or conversion of land or buildings from an employment generating use will not be permitted unless it meets at least one of the following:- A) The site is allocated within the district plan for another purpose, B) The continuation of such

a use would be unreasonably harmful to the amenity of the occupiers of nearby dwellings or other properties, C) That a local affordable housing need has been identified and the site would be restricted to that use D) That it has been proven that there is no demand or need for employment uses in the locality.

22. Policy T2: Traffic Management and Parking- on site parking should be limited to that necessary to ensure the safe and efficient operation of the site.

The above represents a summary of those policies considered most relevant in the Development Plan the full text, criteria, and justifications of each may be accessed at <a href="http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3271/Teesdale-Local-Plan">http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3271/Teesdale-Local-Plan</a>

#### **RELEVANT EMERGING POLICY:**

#### The County Durham Plan -

23. Paragraph 216 of the NPPF says that decision-takers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: the stage of the emerging plan; the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies; and, the degree of consistency of the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the NPPF. The County Durham Plan was submitted for Examination in Public and a stage 1 Examination concluded. An Interim Report was issued by an Inspector dated 15 February 2015, however that report was quashed by the High Court following a successful Judicial Review challenge by the Council. As part of the High Court Order, the Council has withdrawn the CDP from examination. In the light of this, policies of the CDP can no longer carry any weight.

#### **CONSULTATION AND PUBLICITY RESPONSES**

#### **STATUTORY RESPONSES:**

- 24. Staindrop Parish Council: Expressed concerns about amendments that have been made to the scheme. Concern expressed over the retrospective nature of the application. Consider that due to the nature and extent of departures from the approved plans and apparent disregard for the planning process application should be refused and wishes to object strongly to the application.
- 25. *Highway Authority:* No objection. The number of bedrooms (or rooms such as a study which could be used as a bedroom) is unchanged from the previous approval. Swan Wynd is of single vehicle width it is accepted that a parked vehicle upon it will block passage for other motor vehicles. Any parking on the highway is likely to be for short durations which would be a relatively infrequent and is an event that could have occurred in relation to previous planning approval. More regular obstructive parking is a matter for the Police.

#### INTERNAL CONSULTEE RESPONSES:

26. *Design and Conservation:* Developer has eroded the character and detail of the buildings through the implementation process. Introduction of stone quoins surrounding doors and windows is an overly elaborate detail which serves to confuse the architectural hierarchy of the area. Loss of central quoins and stone water table is significant as this removed sense of vertical proportion to this section of development which goes against the vertical emphasis evident throughout

Staindrop. Some issues have been addressed in that windows of vertical proportion are proposed to replace inappropriate windows that have been fitted to the Swan Wynd Elevation. Clarification needed in relation to roofing materials. Railing detail should be removed from boundary wall. Overall the previously approved scheme is by far a superior form of development. This proposal will not deliver the same improvements and benefits to the wider conservation area which the previous scheme would have done. The increased height whilst perhaps modest proportionally makes a considerable difference, the development is more prominent and less subservient as a result.

27. Environmental Health (Contaminated Land): I have reviewed again the report and the comments provided by Paul Davies. Given the proposals to remove all the made ground and replace with imported 'clean' topsoil I have no objections to the discharge of the pre-commencement contaminated land condition. A Phase 4 Verification Report will be required upon completion of the development.

#### **PUBLIC RESPONSES:**

- 28. The application has been publicised by way of site notice, press notice and neighbour letters. Letters of objection have been received from four addresses. The grounds of objection are summarised below.
- 29. <u>New Build Properties</u> Concern that houses are not built in accordance with planning approval. Houses have been built too high resulting in a bulky appearance of excessive mass; there would be restriction of sunlight to 2 Swan Wynd with no definition between units 1 and 2 and the lower unit at 3. Houses are built in the wrong position and loss of water tabling has diluted design merits of the scheme. Velux style windows to north roof slope of new build properties appear larger than on the plans, sited lower on the roof and are not conservation in style. Alterations have taken place to window design. There would be loss of privacy to surrounding properties.
- 30. <u>Gymnasium Building</u> Concerns that the gymnasium building is not being converted in accordance with planning approval – a roof light installed to the west facing roof slope is clear glazed, a new doorway has been installed, concern about location of south facing roof light serving a bedroom and the impact on privacy towards rear elevation and garden of 2 Swan Wynd. 1<sup>st</sup> floor window to north facing elevation inserted midline resulting in loss of privacy. Concern that a chimney has been installed without planning approval blocking views from 2 Swan Wynd towards the Church Steeple and causing problems with smoke. The gymnasium is to be partially faced with render rather than stone.
- 31. <u>Other Issues</u> Additional bedrooms will mean more cars and concerned this will result in cars parked on the rear lane blocking the lane for other users. Concern over lack of provision for dustbins. Iron railings proposed as part of the boundary treatment is not suitable to the character of the area. Concern that sewage systems cannot cope with the level of development.

The above is not intended to repeat every point made and represents a summary of the comments received on this application. The full written text is available for inspection on the application file which can be viewed at <u>https://publicaccess.durham.gov.uk/online-applications/</u>

#### APPLICANTS STATEMENT:

32. Not supplied.

## PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSESSMENT

- 33. The principle of the 5 dwelling scheme has been established through the previous planning approval reference DM/15/00292/FPA and as such the principle of the development will not be re-visited in this report. The discussion in this report will focus on the main alterations that have been made to the scheme and will consider the acceptability of these changes.
- 34. Therefore, having regard to the requirements of Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the relevant Development Plan policies, relevant guidance and all other material planning considerations, including representations received, it is considered that the main planning issues in this instance relate to the impact on the character and appearance of the area, residential amenity and highway safety.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

- 35. Part 7 of the NPPF outlines that the government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. It is noted that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. Appropriate standards of design are also required through Teesdale Local Plan policies GD1 and H12. Policy BENV3 contains design criteria in respect of development affecting the setting of Listed Buildings. Policy BENV4 contains design criteria in respect of development are spect of development within or adjoining conservation areas.
- 36. A conservation area is a designated heritage asset. Part 12 of the NPPF advises that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset (in this case Staindrop Conservation Area and nearby listed buildings), great weight should be given to the asset's conservation. The NPPF advises that significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting.
- 37. In addition, Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of any development within the a conservation area to preserve or enhance the character or appearance of that area. Section 66 of the above act states that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.
- 38. The Staindrop conservation area is characterised by an assortment of dwellings, making much use of local stone with slate and pantile roofs. The heights of buildings vary significantly with many examples in the village up to three storeys in height. The most significant aspect of the conservation area is the central Green and traditional property frontages facing onto the Green and the A688 (Front Street). Many of the frontage properties are Grade II listed, as is the prominent St Mary's Church at the eastern end of the village.
- 39. The application site lies towards the eastern end of the village away from the Green, but the Old School House faces onto the A688 and lies opposite listed St Mary's Church. The adjoining property to the west (no.26) is also Grade II listed.

The rest of the application site lies behind the main frontage, but does face onto the small rear lane Swan Wynd, which defines the southern edge of the conservation area.

- 40. The Old School House frontage contributes most to the significance of the conservation area and setting of nearby listed buildings, but there are no alterations proposed to that façade.
- 41. The rear of the Old School building and the Gymnasium building are wholly contained within a courtyard created by the new build dwellings on Swan Wynd. Similarly, the rear of the new build dwellings are internal to the courtyard. The changes to windows, rooflights and introduction of render to the western end of the Gymnasium building on these internal courtyard elevations would barely be visible from outside the site. The new chimney on the Gymnasium building is a very small feature and while it may be visible from the rear windows of 2 Swan Wynd it is an inconsequential feature in the wider context of the surrounding area and important wider views of the Church would are not adversely affected. Accordingly, these alterations would not have any impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area, or setting of nearby listed buildings.
- 42. The most notable of proposed revisions to the previous permission are the increase in the height of the 3 new build dwellings and design of the elevations facing onto Swan Wynd.
- 43. In terms of height, the application seeks to retain the development at its constructed height. Plots 4 and 5 have been built to a height of 9.5mtrs, which is 0.9mtrs higher than the previously approved height of 8.6mtrs. Plot 3 has been built to a height of 9.2mtrs, which is 1.4mtrs higher than the previously approved height of 7.8mtrs. The view of the Design and Conservation officer is that the height increase makes the development more prominent and less subservient to the Old School Buildings. However, when viewed from public vantage points outside the site the new build dwellings and Old School Buildings are seen in separate contexts. The new build dwellings are viewed from Swan Wynd, while the Old School Building is viewed from Front Street. It is not important for the new dwellings to appear subservient to the Old School Building. It is more important for them to be appropriate in scale to the surrounding development they are seen in context with and the overall character of the area. In this respect, there is considerable variation in the height of buildings in the surrounding area and the new dwellings do not look out of place in their context. They are comparable in height to the adjacent dwellings and the recently constructed housing development to the south of Swan Wynd. There are many larger 3 storey buildings in Staindrop. It is therefore considered that the scale of the dwellings, although higher than previously approved, are still in keeping with local character.
- 44. In terms of the elevation changes facing Swan Wynd, the development has been constructed without the central quoin and water table detailing between plots 4 and 5. The Design and Conservation officer feels this has removed the sense of vertical proportion. However, such a design feature is not evident in other similarly proportioned dwellings in Staindrop and its absence is not detrimental to the design and appearance of the dwellings. The development is better and more in keeping with local character without such a feature.
- 45. In its current built form the windows in the Swan Wynd elevation are mock sash instead of sliding sash as previously approved, and the proportions of the ground floor windows have more squat proportions. This was identified as being unacceptable, hence why the proposal seeks to revert back to sliding sash

windows and improve the proportions of the ground floor openings. The Design and Conservation officer welcomes these changes, but feels the introduction of stone quoin surrounds to the doors and windows is an overly elaborate detail. However, whilst on plan the quoin surrounds are noticeable features, they are very subtle in reality and do not appear elaborate or inappropriate.

- 46. The railings originally proposed have been removed from the scheme.
- 47. Taking all of the above into account, it is considered that the proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of the Staindrop Conservation Area and setting of the nearby listed buildings. There is no conflict with the NPPF or with Teesdale Local Plan policies GD1, H12, BENV3 and BENV4.

Impact on residential amenity

- 48. Policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan relates to general development criteria. It requires that development should not unreasonably harm the amenity occupants on adjoining sites.
- 49. Objections from both neighbours at 26 Front Street and 2 Swan Wynd have raised concerns about the impact of the height of the new dwellings and loss of privacy from windows and rooflights.
- 50. There has not been any change in the layout of the site and corresponding relationship of the development to neighbouring properties. Over the distance between the new dwellings and 26 Front Street the marginal increase in height of the dwellings could not be highly discernible and the development does not appear overbearing on that property. In relation to 2 Swan Wynd the new dwellings lie to the west and the increased height is only in the roof to the ridge, which does not affect the front or rear outlook of 2 Swan Wynd and would not significantly alter the impact from the previously approved scheme in respect of overshadowing on that property.
- 51. The window in the east gable elevation facing 2 Swan Wynd serves a bathroom and can be conditioned to be obscure glazed. The rooflights in the north facing roof slopes of plots 4 and 5 are not new additions; they have only changed slightly in position and size, but do not raise any new or additional overlooking issues. There is a new roof light in the west facing roof slope of the Gymnasium building, but it is small and is placed well above head height. There is also a bedroom window that has been inserted slightly more centrally to the first floor on the northern elevation of the Gymnasium building, but viewing angles limit any views towards 24/26 Front Street. An internal re-arrangement to the building has resulted in a bedroom at first floor level being served by roof lights which face south, but this has been inspected internally and it is not possible to obtain views into the windows of 2 Swan Wynd.
- 52. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal would not harm the residential amenity of the neighbouring residents. There is no conflict with policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

#### Highway Safety

53. Swan Wynd is a narrow lane and any parked vehicle upon it could block passage for other motor vehicles, but whilst there has been an additional bedroom created, the study as it was previously, could have been used as a bedroom anyway so it makes no material cumulative difference to car parking requirements for the development. The Highway Authority acknowledges this and is satisfied that the development provides adequate off street parking.

- 54. The proposed revisions do not therefore raise any new highways issues. There is no conflict in highway safety terms with the NPPF or policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.
- Other issues
  - 55. Details have been submitted alongside this application to deal with issues that were conditional requirements of the previous planning permission. These relate to details of windows, gutters and downpipes, means of enclosure and contaminated land, which are all considered acceptable. Accordingly there is no need to repeat previous conditions relating to these matters.
  - 56. Because of the tight site layout, small gardens and location within the conservation area it would be appropriate to remove permitted development rights for alterations and outbuildings from plots 2, 3, 4 & 5.

### CONCLUSION

- 57. The proposals have been assessed against the relevant policies of the development plan and NPPF. It is considered that the proposals conform with these policies, as the character and appearance of the conservation area and setting of nearby listed buildings would be preserved. There would also be no harm to the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers and the development is acceptable in highways terms. There is no conflict with Parts 7 and 12 of the NPPF and Teesdale Local Plan policies GD1, H12, BENV3 and BENV4.
- 58. All representations have been considered, however taking all matters into account, it is felt that the proposal is acceptable in planning terms. For these reasons, the proposal is recommended for approval.

#### RECOMMENDATION

That the application be **APPROVED** subject to the following conditions;

1. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the following approved plans and documents.

Drawing 1 Site Layout Proposals with boundary treatment Drawing S14 Internal Elevations Drawing S13-2 New Build Principal Elevations Drawing S2 – Existing school building proposals Drawing S10-1 Existing Building Conversion REV D Drawing S13-1 New Build Proposals (Revised) REV C Window Profiles (Former School House) dwg W1 Window Profiles (Former Gymnasium) dwg W2 Window Profiles (New Build 3, 4, 5) all received 03<sup>rd</sup> October 2016 Bat Risk Assessment Report, Ecosurv Ecological Consultants December 2014 received 02nd February 2015. Planting Details 5/LD/1 Received 02nd February 2015 Reason: To define the consent and ensure that a satisfactory form of development is obtained.

2. No development shall take place unless in accordance with recommendations detailed within Bat Risk Assessment Report, Ecosurv Ecological Consultants December 2014 received 02nd February 2015.

Reason: To conserve protected species and their habitat in accordance with Policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

3. The development shall not be occupied until a detailed scheme for the disposal of foul and surface water has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall take place in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding from any source in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Policies GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

4. The dwellings on plots 3, 4 & 5 shall not be occupied until the windows facing Swan Wynd have been altered to be in accordance with those details proposed in drawing S13-1 New Build Proposals (Revised) REV C & S13-2 New Build Principal Elevations received 03<sup>rd</sup> October 2016 and shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the area and to comply with Policies GD1 and BENV4 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

5. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first available planting season following the practical completion of the development and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the substantial completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the area and to comply with Policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

6. The car parking spaces within the Courtyard area shall be made available for use prior to the first residential occupation of the site and shall remain available for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of Highway Safety and to comply with Policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

7. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or in any Statutory Instrument revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development falling within Classes A, B, C or E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the said Order shall be carried out without written approval of the local planning authority, upon an application having been submitted to it.

Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority may exercise further control in this locality in the interests of visual and residential amenity and to comply with Policy GD1 of the Teesdale District Local Plan.

8. The first floor window serving a bathroom on the east facing side elevation to plot 3 shall be provided with obscure glazing prior to the occupation of the dwelling and this shall be retained for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: In the interests of Residential Amenity and to comply with Policy GD1 of the Teesdale Local Plan.

9. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans precise details of all doors shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to their installation. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the area and to comply with Policy GD1 of the Teesdale District Local Plan 2002.

## STATEMENT OF PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT

In arriving at the decision to recommend approval of the application the Local Planning Authority has assessed the proposal against the NPPF and the Development Plan in the most efficient way to ensure a positive outcome through appropriate and proportionate engagement with the applicant, and carefully weighing up the representations received to deliver an acceptable development.

## **BACKGROUND PAPERS**

Submitted application form, plans supporting documents The National Planning Policy Framework (2012) National Planning Practice Guidance Notes Teesdale Local Plan The County Durham Plan (Submission Draft) County Durham Settlement Study 2012 All consultation responses received

